CHAPTER IV

A HISTORY OF THE WATERFORD GRADED SCHOOLS DISTRICT #1

A guide to the progressive and public spiritedness of a community is its system of education. The pioneer settlers of Waterford knew this and soon after the first homes were established, about 1837, they began to provide for the education of the children. There has been a steady development in the progress of our schools. Growth in numbers has been accompanied by growth along every line—the equipment provided for work, the courses taught, housing facilities, number of teachers employed and methods used in instruction.

The first school in the Waterford community was opened in 1840 and was taught by Miss Harriet Caldwell, according to histories of Racine County published in 1879 and 1916. ¹⁰

Amid some vague records, it would seem owing to the lax manner in which the first records were kept, very little can be ascertained about the early school history. Captain John T. Rice, of Burlington, who was born in 1839, the first white boy born in the town of Waterford, verified Miss Caldwell’s employment and added that the first school in the town of Waterford, which was at that time a part of the town of Rochester, was taught in what later became known as the Webster

¹⁰The Waterford Post Encyclopedia, loc cit., p. 44.
District, about a mile west of the village. Miss Caldwell, who later became the wife of L. W. Ward of Caldwell Prairie, was a cousin of Captain Rice's mother and while teaching in the district spent a greater part of her time at the Rice home. To the Webster District also belongs the honor of building the first school house, commonly called the Webster School. Whether the school house preceded the school or the school the house, research does not reveal.

Incidentally, Captain Rice spoke further of teachers when he said, "A man by the name of Sherwood was among the earliest and best teachers of the district and pupils came out from the village to the school". ¹¹

Undated papers found in the Chapman home gave some information such as the fact that on September 22, 1845, Samuel deeded to the trustees of District No. 9, town of Rochester, 40 feet running north and south by 30 feet east to west off the northeast corner of lot 3, block 9, Waterford, to be used for a school house site. This is the first tax supported school in Waterford, Wisconsin.

In a series of nine building programs of the Waterford Public School the first was that of the "Little Brick School House" in 1847 on land deeded in 1845. It was to be 26 feet long and 22 feet wide. A 13 foot panel door was to be placed in the center of the front end with transom sash over the door with 1.15 light windows each side of the door leaving spaces. There was to be 1.15 light window in the back end in

¹¹Tindall Report, loc. cit.
the center and three such windows on each side. A good large Norfolk latch and a good stock lock were to be put on as a warning to potential thieves.\(^{12}\)

Just when the building was erected is not known as the paper was not dated. Early documents show that a special school meeting was held May 27, 1847, at which the trustees were authorized to finish the school house as they deemed fit. Mrs. J. W. Jordan, of Mason City, Iowa, youngest daughter of Samuel, said that the building was used for school purposes before it was completed.\(^{13}\)

On June 3, 1847, another special meeting was held at which an appropriation of $180 was made for the purpose of finishing the school house; and plans were made for the levying and collecting of a tax to meet the appropriation.

While this explains the first school house, but not the first school, as there were private schools in operation since 1837. Mrs. Jordan was known to have said that many times she had heard her mother tell that the first school in the village was held in the "Old Ark"—the old log house (1837)—the first to be built in the village, which served as the home of the Chapman and Barnes families, was the stopping place for all new comers and served as the community center of this settlement. It is thought that Mrs. Martha Short, a sister of Mrs. Samuel Chapman and a daughter of Levi Barnes, was the first teacher.

\(^{12}\)The Waterford Post Encyclopedia, loc. cit.

\(^{13}\)Tindall Interview, loc. cit.
An item taken from the Racine Advocate of May, 1844, and quoted in one of the early numbers of the Waterford Posts says: "The Village of Waterford contains 150 inhabitants, has a good school, a good state of society, moral and religious, and now and then an abolitionist".

Private schools seem to have been numerous, if not permanent, in the early days. Mrs. Lydia Woodhead Carr, who moved to California, wrote of attending a "Select school" for primary scholars, taught by Miss Ruth Chapman in the upper room of her home.

Miss Louise Weage (later Mrs. Merrick) also taught a private or select school in a room furnished by her father, Fred Weage, in the second story of his building, now the Topp Building on Main Street. The building was later damaged by fire and only the first story rebuilt. Individual seats, the first seen in Waterford, were used in this school. From thirty to forty pupils could be accommodated. This was the "School de Luxe" of the village for three or four years.

Miss Imogene Chapman conducted a primary school in the west wing of the old Chapman home at one time, but the date is not certain. Miss Chapman and her sister, Miss Ellen, were also among the teachers who taught in the "little brick school house". 14

Another private school was held in the evenings in the Weage building, which was attended by older boys. Several of the young men testified to the value of this instruction,

14 Ibid.
which included German and some commercial branches, when they entered the business world a few years later.

For several years a school was held in the basement of the old Congregational Church (erected in 1859). At one time it was used to take care of the overflow from the "little brick school", but was used exclusively as the public school when the "little brick school" was out of commission. The Congregational Church was also used to house the high school at one time.

Advanced branches, which prepared the pupils for college, were taught and the young people went from this village school to Lawrence, Rockford, and other colleges. One of the instructors was Professor Whitcomb, though young was promoted to an older class composed largely of young women who resented the little boy being put in their class. The little boy stood up in school and made a speech. He explained why he was put forward, said that nothing could keep him back, and challenged the young women to keep up with him. This little boy later became the president and reorganizer of one of the large and important railroads of this country.15

The little red brick school house was not only the home of the public school, but was used as the town hall and all public meetings were held there. Impartially it opened its doors to the various denominations of the community for church services, Sunday school, and weekly prayer meetings. It was also the theatre of the village and many plays by

traveling troupes and home talent shows were frequently held there. On these occasions, or whenever a meeting was held in the school house in the evening, lights were furnished by the neighbors whose best lamps and lanterns were carried, all freshly cleaned, to the school house. The Chapman melodian, carried to and from the school house by older boys and men, furnished music for the church services.\textsuperscript{16}

In the early days it was the custom for the teachers to "board out" or to "board round" the tuition of the pupils. It was not until the state took charge of the school in 1858 that a money consideration was offered teachers.

Available records, minutes written by Joseph Williams, Clerk pro tem, indicated that the first annual meeting of the district was held on September 24, 1866, at which time Mr. V. M. Willard was chosen chairman.\textsuperscript{17}

George F. Newell was elected district clerk and Charles Moe was elected district treasurer for the term of three years.

Sums of money used for educational purposes (1866-67) came from these sources: County fund, $142.36; State fund, $170.97; District tax, $200.00

Included in the expenditures were teachers' salaries; the man teacher, Mr. E. R. Smith, was hired for forty-five dollars a month for the four winter months which started on

\textsuperscript{16}Ibid.
\textsuperscript{17}Waterford District School Record. (Waterford, Wisconsin, 1866-1887).
November 21, 1866, and ended on March 22, 1967, and the woman teacher, Miss Martha Lowell, received twenty dollars a month for teaching the four summer months which began April 6, 1867, and ended August 2, 1867.

A Teacher's Certificate for Mr. E. R. Smith—first documented evidence—dated November 20, 1866, shows the courses he studied to become a teacher: Orthography, Reading, Penmanship, Mental Arithmetic, Written Arithmetic, English Grammar, Geography, United States History, Theory and Art of Teaching, Algebra, Physiology, Physical Geography, Natural Philosophy, and Geometry.

There were thirty-five boys and twenty-two girls enrolled for a total of fifty-seven pupils, whose average age was nine and one-half years. Their attendance averaged forty-three days during the term. Studies pursued by the pupils in 1866-1867 were the alphabet, spelling, reading, arithmetic, geography, history and vocal music.

A second building program was put into operation when, at the annual school meeting on September 30, 1867, it was voted that the school board be authorized to commence operations for the purpose of building a graded school house of stone. The taxpayers had to raise one thousand dollars for the purpose of building the school, and another two hundred dollars was needed for teachers' wages for the ensuing year.\(^{18}\)

This stone building, erected on the site of the little

\(^{18}\text{Ibid.}\)
red brick school house, was begun the following year, and at
the annual school meeting on September 28, 1868, $1,600 was
voted to complete this building.\footnote{19}

This school house survived for more than a century,
and the author has fond memories of the "Old Stone School"
because he taught seventh grade in this building his first
year in Waterford.

At the annual school meeting September 28, 1868,
motion made and carried that the time of the annual school
meeting be held on the last Monday in August instead of in
September. It was voted to raise three hundred and twenty
dollars for teachers' salaries and seventy-five dollars for
maintenance.

The following year the teachers' salaries and money
needed for incidental funds remained the same, but a motion
was made and carried to raise six hundred dollars for building
purposes.

Five months of school with two teachers for the ensuing
year was voted upon at the annual meeting on August 29, 1870.

It is interesting to note that at the next annual
meeting on August 31, 1871, the money on hand was a mere $1.83.
Also at this meeting it was moved and carried to have three
terms of school with two teachers as follows: first term to
commence the third Monday in September and continue thirteen
weeks; second term to commence the second Monday in January

\footnote{19}Ibid.
and continue twelve weeks; third term to commence the fourth Monday in April and continue thirteen weeks.  

These annual meetings, incidentally, were not always well attended since it is recorded that eight ballots were cast for district clerk.

On August 26, 1872, the school board was instructed by the electors to obtain insurance on the school house for $1,500 for five years. The electors, monetarily regressed, then voted to shorten the length of the school term to seven months; four months winter term, and three months summer term. G. H. Newell, newly elected clerk, introduced the following resolution which was voted upon and passed:

Resolved by the electors of school district No. 1, Town of Waterford, County of Racine, in annual school meeting assembled that the sum of money equal to one-third of all the school money raised on the taxable property in said school district No. 1 for the year 1874 shall be paid to the trustees of St. Thomas School in the Village of Waterford—this resolution shall not be construed as to mean any of the monies appropriated by the state or county known as government money.

Waterford, August 31, 1874.  

The school term was to be three terms of twelve weeks each for the 1874-1875 school year, but in 1875-1876 the school was divided into two departments. The higher department was to have a term of six months taught by a male teacher and the primary department nine months taught by a female teacher.

At the 1876 meeting they raised $300 for school purposes making a total of $515.07 in the treasury. At this

20 Waterford District School Record, loc. cit.
21 Ibid.
time the school clerk received his first pay which amounted to ten dollars.

Necessary items, now considered obsolete, were listed in the early treasurer's records of the school district: such as, wood sawing and splitting, building of fires in classroom stoves, water pails and dippers, and whitewashing of the walls.\textsuperscript{22}

Unhappily, salaries had not increased one iota from 1866 to 1882. They varied slightly during these years with the male teacher receiving forty-five dollars per month and the female receiving thirty dollars per month. The following expenditures which occurred during this time are interesting: the building of fires from January 13, 1877 to April 8, 1877, cost eight dollars; the sweeping out of the school for three months in 1882 cost two dollars; services of the clerk in 1882 cost seven dollars; a set of encyclopedias in 1883 cost sixteen dollars.\textsuperscript{23}

A special meeting was held at the school house in District No. 1 Waterford, Monday, September 18, 1882, to hear reasons for non-attendance in the public school in said district of children between the ages of seven and fifteen years. A. A. Pierce, District Clerk, records that no one attended the meeting. This apparently reveals laxness in school attendance or even interest in it by the community.

\textsuperscript{22} Waterford District Treasurer's Records (Waterford, Wisconsin, 1866-1887).

\textsuperscript{23} Waterford District School Record, \textit{loc. cit.}
At the school house on February 23, 1883, a special meeting was held to decide if the upper department should be continued three months longer. A total of forty-one ballots were cast with twenty-seven for no school and fourteen for longer school. Another regression! A woodshed built of stone and at a cost of $150 was also built in the above year.

In 1884 the school had eight months of school in both lower and upper departments, but went back to nine months of schooling in 1885-1886, then went back to eight months the following year. This issue seems to have come up every year with changes each time, because in the 1887-1888 school year they had ten months in the lower department and eight months in the upper department.

As far as this author could ascertain, the teacher-pupil ratio was very high during these early years, usually over fifty pupils for each teacher.

The records are vague for the next few years, although the treasurer's report states that a belfry for the stone school house complete with bell and hangings was built in 1887 for a cost of sixty-eight dollars, while in 1895 a flag staff with flag was erected at a cost of ten dollars and fifty-six cents.

The following letter was received by the school board giving some idea of the schools around 1901:
To School Boards

Gentlemen,

I wish to suggest a few matters pertaining to the welfare of our schools.

In the hiring of teachers I stand ready to assist you. There is no one who is able to judge what work a teacher is able to do in a school as the Supt. is—he knows both the condition in the school and the fitness and the ability of the applicant. If you want a teacher, write me—Don’t wait until almost all are engaged. If you wish to know the ability of certain applicants to teach and to govern a school, write me and I will tell you honestly and impartially of their ability to teach school. There are many teachers, who, if they were placed in the right positions could do much better work. A person may teach one school quite successfully under the conditions existing in some other school. First of all the applicants must have a legal certificate in this county. You cannot make a contract with a person who is not legally qualified. Then, ask the applicant this question, “Do you attend institutes and teachers’ meetings regularly?” Don’t hire one who does not attend the institutes. She is not out for improvement. She is either teaching for the money or to kill time or for both. Don’t be in too much of a hurry to hire teachers. The institute is held early and the results of the examination will be announced by August 15th. I urge you to come to the institute to see the work and incidentally to see what teachers are there. People do not realize what a stimulus and inspiration to better work a teacher receives from the work in our institutes.

It is the duty of the Supt. to inform school boards concerning the fitness and qualifications of the applicants, and the Supt. stands ready at all times to do his duty without fear or favor. However, it is no more than common courtesy to ask that such information remain confidential in order to foster and preserve harmonious the relations of teachers, school boards, and the district at large. Is your teacher a subscriber to the best educational journals? Has she kept herself up-to-date in methods, fresh in food for her pupils, alert to the need of practical instruction of common every-day things? If she has been a “normal student” be likewise persistent that she attend the summer institute. Many “normal students”, laboring under the delusion that their attendance at Normal School has transformed them into a teacher pure and simple—a mass of pedagogical propensity—have become “rutty”, educationally deformed, and lack that
pliability which comes from an association and exchange ideas, methods, and common clean-cut instruction. He who teaches this year the same as he did last year has taught a year too long. Hire a progressive teacher, one who will work, advise with her in regard to the discipline, instruction and management of the school, and make your school better than it has ever been before. I shall be glad to have you confer with me before you hire, and will do my utmost to place in the schools the teachers who will do the best work.

As a rule it is unwise to hire a teacher whose home is in the district. I am aware that it is impolite for me to say so, but in so many instances a failure to promote the best interests of teacher pupils I have attributed to this cause. If a teacher is successful at all, she will be much more successful away from home. A teacher's work in the schoolroom secure for her a continuation of service or advancement in position, rather than her personal favor, social position, or political preference. Inquire thoroughly and consistently into the qualifications and previous success of the applicants.

Many of the districts need library cases—not a circular glass—highly polished mahogany piece of furniture, that would lend a charm to a rich man's parlor, but a neat, tight roomy case that any good carpenter can make out of beaded ceiling. Let it be fastened to the side of the wall and have a lock and key. Be sure it is large enough as the library grows each year. It is a shame to have good books strewn all over the room and consequently roughly handled. The very principle taught a boy or girl "to have a place for everything and everything in its place" ought to be worthy of so small an expenditure.

I notice in some schools a fine easy chair for the teacher. It is a mistake, people. Such an article of furniture is liable to be used most of the time. Usually such a school has no globe, numerical frame or library case.

In some districts the outbuildings are in a frightful shape—a disgrace to any civilized community—unfit for occupancy—immoral and a breeder of indecency. Your children are obliged to use an outbuilding which, if you were obliged to occupy, would cause you to blush with shame. There are obscene marks and sayings that would send the carver to pay the penalty of the law. A recent law is very stringent in this matter. Get the outbuildings in shape. Have them separate if possible. Have your teacher inspect them every day and hold her responsible for their condition. If necessary have them furnished with lock and key.

Many expensive pieces of apparatus have been placed in our schools. A dollar globe is far more useful in a district school than a twenty or forty dollar one. The twenty, or thirty dollar chart has very little value in
proportion to the amount of money you pay for it. The reading chart contains more words than the ordinary first reader that you can buy for 15 cents. Give your children a book, a blackboard and business-like teacher. What you need is enough good blackboards, plenty of chalk, good maps, plenty of modern text-books, a Webster's Unabridged Dictionary, a fifty-cent or a dollar globe, a good library with serviceable case, and a live teacher who is willing to work and to improve. According to section 430 of the Revised Statutes no school apparatus can be purchased without the consent of the Supt. If not purchased by law the district will not be held liable, and whether the individual members are liable for the purchase price or not, may depend upon the persistence of the agent or firm who sold the goods. There are many so-called agents for school apparatus who are no more or no less than "fakes". Their profits are large and perhaps you pay their livery, hotel and whiskey bills. See to it that at the annual meeting you make an appropriation to cover necessary school apparatus. See Sec. 436.

Sec. 436a compels every district board to purchase a flag and necessary fixtures to display the same. Make a note of this and at the beginning of the next school year may we not be able to say that every district owns a suitable flag of our nation.

I would like to see the flag wave over every schoolhouse while the school is in session.

It is painful to note the number of antiquated text-books that some of our schools are using. When modern texts are so good and so cheap, there is no excuse for allowing out-of-date books to find a place in our schools. Boards, can't you do something so that your children may have the use of better text-books? If you haven't legally adopted a list, do so at once. The law is compulsory. See Section 440. If you have adopted a list, make some recommendations for a change at the annual meeting, provided the adoption was at least three years previous to the change.

Withal, let me urge you to come to visit the institute. There must be an awakening in behalf of the common school.

Assuring you that I am ever ready to assist you and that my every effort is for the improvement of our schools, and hoping that these suggestions may meet with your kindly consideration and co-operation, I am,

Very truly yours,

W. W. Storms
The third building program constituted a large brick addition which was erected in front of the stone building in the summer of 1902. Noll and Auterman were the contractors, with a bid of $3,785.

During the school year 1902-1903 a wood and coal furnace was installed in the brick building at a cost of $575. The school district was now entitled to $300 in extra state aid which was used for the purchase of all new equipment and a new course of study was prepared for the school by the state superintendent.

The teachers in this new school for the first year were J. J. Pettijohn, principal, Miss Lizzie Shenkenberg and Miss Lizzie Flucker while members of the school board were A. S. Titus, clerk, Edward Malone, director, and Dr. Flett, treasurer.

In 1904 a district free high school department was added with an enrollment of forty-two, which had classes on the second floor of the graded school building. The entire enrollment that year was one hundred and two children.24

The following items of interest were found in the treasurer’s records: the first electric light bill for the district was paid on March 4, 1909, for $2.90, while payment of Village of Waterford water permit and tax amounting to $6.75 was not paid until October 11, 1915, and modern plumbing was installed by Wallman and Stinke for $91.98 in 1916.25

24 Ibid.
25 Waterford District Treasurer’s Records, loc. cit.
It was also in 1916 that the high school department transferred to its own building across the street from the graded school.

School records are not available for the years 1917-1936. No building programs took place from 1902-1949. For forty-seven years there was to be no building program. This amazing truth can be somewhat explained by the following events: (1) The first World War was taking place during 1917-1918, and this usually impedes building programs. Interest would drop off in schools during a war. The population of Waterford did not change much during this time. (2) Waterford, like so many rural communities has been and is a retired farmers' town. Generally speaking these communities are very conservative and Waterford is no exception.

With the Great Depression starting in 1929 and lasting through the 1930's, growth in almost every area was almost at a standstill. During the 1930's at the annual meetings free textbooks were voted down. This is another indication of the difficult economic times. The population in the United States reached an all-time low of 18.4 births per 1,000 in 1933 and again in 1936. These trends on the national level were being felt in Waterford and elsewhere during these depression years. Mrs. Melvin Hanson, a Village of Waterford resident for many years and presently teaching kindergarten in this same village, stated: "There was a question among many people in Waterford whether or not the Graded School could keep operating with the declining
enrollment that they were experiencing. America’s entry into World War II in 1941-1945 had a tremendous effect upon schools. There was a shortage of qualified teachers, and a lack of building materials and construction workers because war related industries had top priority.

The only mention of World War II in the minutes was at the July 13, 1942, annual meeting. A letter was read from the county superintendent regarding the sugar ration allotment.

At the annual meeting July 12, 1943, a committee of four was appointed by the chairman to give consideration to the formation of a parent-teacher association and present definite recommendations in the near future.

A petition was presented requesting the establishment of a kindergarten in the Waterford Graded School. This subject was thoroughly discussed, after which a motion was made and seconded that the school board establish a kindergarten if suitable quarters and a competent instructor could be employed. 19 ballots cast - 1 blank, 16 yes, 2 no. A motion made and seconded that the sum of $3,000 be added to the budget to defray the expenses of operating a kindergarten, if established. Motion carried, July 9, 1945. It is interesting to note how relatively late Waterford started its first kindergarten when we are reminded that kindergarten has had its greatest development in the United States. The first American kindergarten was established in 1856 in Watertown, Wisconsin by Mrs. Carl Shurz, wife of the American general and politician.
At the annual meeting July 8, 1946, a motion made and carried to have the board secure the services of a music teacher in an effort to establish a school-wide music program. At this same meeting it was decided to retain the $3,000 budgeted for kindergarten purposes the previous year for future use for the same purpose due to the unavailability of suitable quarters.

In 1948 the graded school had three teachers and a teaching principal. The teachers met with the board and spoke favorably of the parent-teacher conferences which replaced the report card system although this new system will take time.

The fourth building program of the district was in 1949 when a $23,000 lunch room and kitchen, and finally a kindergarten were added to the stone school. For this building program there were 54 votes cast: Yes - 41, no - 10, blank - 3. This was a very modest building program, and relatively inadequate. It was a piecemeal affair and looked unfinished, which it was, because they did not cover the cement block building with brick; in fact, they didn't paint it. Not all was gloom and despair however. The school's first phone was installed in 1949. The K-8 enrollment was 124. Fire escapes costing $2,000 were added to the building this same year. This was the first building program in forty-seven years.

The enrollment of the Waterford Graded School increased rapidly after 1950. The population in Waterford continued to increase steadily in line with the national
trend on the post-war baby boom. The United States birth rate climbed to 26.6 in 1947 and has since then fluctuated around 25.0, a higher level than in any other Western country. In recent years outlying school districts requested and were granted annexation to the Waterford School District. Hot lunches were served for the first time in 1950.

The fifth building program was inaugurated in 1951. It was the most progressive to date and included a new boiler room, four classrooms, and two washrooms were added to the school for a total cost of $80,222. Vote was by ballot with the following results: For bonds - 57, against bonds - 13.

At a special meeting September 24, 1951, a resolution to increase the board membership from three to five was introduced. This did not pass because of the consolidation with District #5 on August 20, 1951.26 Ranke School District #5 closed in 1926 and pupils entered Waterford Graded School District #1 on a tuition basis. Ranke School District provided bus transportation in 1930, having the first school bus in Racine County and one of the first in southeastern Wisconsin.

Beginning in 1951 and ending in 1963, because of economic reasons, a rash of consolidations took place. At a special meeting July 25, 1951, with ten members present, the Ranke School District electorate voted to consolidate with Waterford State Graded School. Ten ballots were cast and all were in favor of consolidation. The Pilgrim School District

on July 13, 1953, voted to consolidate with Waterford. The West High Street District #3 consolidated with Waterford on August 4, 1953. This school was located four miles west of Waterford on Highway 20. The school was eventually moved and converted into a farm home. The Webster School District #2 consolidated with Waterford on August 20, 1953. The schoolhouse is still located one mile west of Waterford at the junction of Highways 20 and 83. This schoolhouse is being used as a shelter for horses.  

November 2, 1953, was the first district meeting since the consolidation of the Pilgrim School District #7. The Pilgrim School did not close until May of 1955. Waterford Graded School kept it open because of a shortage of space.

At the July 12, 1954, annual meeting a petition requesting an increase in the membership of the board from three to five members was read. Adoption of this resolution was moved and carried.

A summer recreation program was started by the school district for the summer of 1955. It proved very successful and has been in continuous operation since. The program has also been very popular in the community with about three hundred children taking part. It has been growing steadily since its inception. The recreation program offers such activities as baseball for all ages complete with uniforms, golf, tennis, swimming lessons, volleyball, dancing, arts

27 Waterford Township Record Book.
and crafts, hiking, bicycling, fishing and other interesting games and sports.

The sixth building program by the Waterford Graded School District was begun in 1951. This addition was sorely needed and it was a good step forward by the community. A $70,000 addition was built which included four new classrooms and the large well-lighted and now fully equipped kindergarten room on the southeast corner of the building.

However, the community was not keeping pace with the increased enrollment. The first day of school, Wednesday, September 5, 1956, an emergency meeting was called to discuss the increased enrollment and possible solution to the problem. First day enrollment was 341. When this is compared to 124 pupils in 1949 this is a 175% increase in enrollment in seven years.

This was the seventh building program in the district. An all-purpose room (gym) with a large stage and two more classrooms were added in 1959 at an expenditure of $90,000.

The number of students increased from 223 in 1954 to over 550 in 1963 or a 146.7% increase. Another building program was inevitable.

For the first time the district voted at the annual meeting in 1958 to have 190 school days; it has been the same ever since.

The seventh and eighth grade became departmentalized in the 1960-61 school year and was taught in the village school that year.
In 1958 the Racine Agricultural School at Rochester, a village two miles south of Waterford, was closed. It was the last remaining agricultural school in the state.

The Waterford High School District purchased the Racine Agricultural School from Racine County for future expansion. The Waterford Graded School rented it from the Waterford High School District for a junior high school. In 1961-62 the seventh and eighth grades were moved to the Rochester building. Schools in the high school district sent their seventh and eighth graders on a tuition basis to the junior high during the 1961-62 school year only.

The curriculum was expanded greatly that year. A regular physical education and band period were added. Home Economics, Manual Arts, and a French program were also added.

The following year the above mentioned outlying schools discontinued sending their students, but the junior high was continued and the sixth grade was also sent from the village to Rochester. The present enrollment in junior high is about 250 students.

Two more school consolidations took place in 1963. The Pleasant View District 2/3 closed May 24, 1963. It had been in operation for ninety-seven years. It is located approximately four miles southwest of Waterford.

Buttles School District 3/4 closed in June of 1963. This school is located on Highway 83 approximately four miles northwest of Waterford. The brick building is still in very good condition and is owned by the Waterford District.
The school board has rented this building to the Racine County Special Education group for a center to teach educable children.

A bond issue of $205,000 was authorized by the district electors in June of 1963. This was the eighth and next to last building program in the Waterford Graded School District.

Zarse and Zarse, a Milwaukee architectural firm, submitted plans for a $208,000 addition.

Ground was broken in October 1963 and construction completed for school classroom use in September 1964. The cornerstone was laid in place on Saturday, February 1, 1964. $9,850 was designated in the 1964-65 school budget of $449,270.61 for furniture and general equipment. The 1868-1902 brick school house was torn down to make way for a portion of the new addition.

Seven classrooms were added, an office for the principal, an outer office, boys and girls shower rooms, two washrooms and storage rooms. The old principal's office is now a conference room.

The former lunchroom and kitchen were remodeled and enlarged for the present kitchen, walk-in cooler-freezer, storage area and a large cafeteria with drop-down tables and benches.

The basement area was enlarged and rebuilt. One section is used as a full-time remedial reading clinic and an office for the full-time psychometrist who serves both the graded school and St. Thomas Aquinas School. The rest of the
Fig. 3.—Map illustrating school districts and locations which have consolidated with Waterford Graded School District #1.
basement area is used for storage.

The present 1967-1968 enrollment of the graded school is 576 children in grades kindergarten through five.

District electors authorized the graded school board of education at the annual meeting in July 1964 to investigate the purchase of a site and the construction of a new building to be used as a district middle school. At a special district meeting held June 26, 1967, the electors voted 79 to 12 authorizing the construction of the new middle school.

The new school will replace the present junior high school located in Rochester and will contain grades five, six, seven and eight, with an eventual capacity for 660 students.

This, the ninth and last building program, is probably the boldest and most exciting step the school district has ever taken. This building program will cost the taxpayers over one million dollars.

At a special board meeting held Monday, July 10, 1967, the Waterford Graded School Board of Education determined to issue promissory notes in the amount of $895,000 for the construction of the new middle or junior high school.

The annual meeting held July 24, 1967, was a very interesting and important one for the district. Due to increased enrollments and rising costs it was necessary to increase the budget. Total enrollment was increased by approximately seventy-five additional students. This necessitated the hiring of three additional teachers at a cost of approximately $18,000. Quite a blow!
A survey had been taken the previous school year (1967) which indicated a desire for a summer school program. Estimated cost of this six weeks program is $2,070 and was included in the proposed budget. The summer program will include remedial reading, remedial mathematics, and a band program.

The district equalized valuation had increased from $22,676,700 to $24,847,100. The 1966-67 school budget was $338,243 with a mill rate of $14.92 per $1,000 equalized valuation. The 1967-68 school budget is $433,682 with a mill rate of $17.41 per $1,000 equalized valuation--an increase of 16.7% in school taxes in one year. Another blow!

The 1967-68 school year began on August with crowded conditions in the sixth, seventh, and eighth grades at Rochester and kindergarten through fourth at the Waterford Graded School. The school kindergarten census was not the same as the number of pupils who showed up on the first day of school. A fifth session of kindergarten is being held in the basement of the Methodist Church across the street from the graded school. The junior high at Rochester is overcrowded, and to add to the problem is the poor condition and inadequate arrangement of facilities.

The middle school is progressing, and is expected to open about November, 1968. This new building is located on a thirty acre site about a quarter of a mile west of the present graded school. This building will contain grades five through eight and is expected to take care of enrollments for
the next five years. The total enrollment for the two schools is approximately 850 students; sixth, seventh, and eighth graders at Rochester, and kindergarten through fourth at Waterford. There is a faculty of thirty-six; twenty-five in the former, and eleven in the latter.

Another special meeting was held March 25, 1968, to raise an additional $145,000 to complete the middle school construction, making a grand total of $1,040,000. This is the Waterford Public School system as of 1968.